
2025-2026

D R A F T
A N N U A L
B U D G E T

N o r t h  W e s t  C o u n t r y  I n c o r p o r a t e d

w w w . n o r t h w e s t c o u n t r y . c o . n z

business association

Approval of Annual ... 2.5 a

69



Income

Associate Membership Fees                           $7,500

BID Targeted Rate                                       $189,000

BID Targeted Rate Increase (9%) *               $17,010

Sponsorship and Grants                                 $5,000

Business Hub Booking Revenue                  $20,000

Magazine Advertising                                     $2,000

Ticket Sales                                                      $1,500

Interest on Savings                                         $1,800

TOTAL INCOME                             $243,810

DRAFT BUDGET 2025-2026

Operating Expenses

Accountancy Fees                                          $3,250

Phone and Internet                                        $2,200

Audit Fees                                                     $2,500

XERO Fees                                                      $1,150

Email and Web Hosting                                 $1,100

Software and Subscriptions                         $2,600

Bank Charges                                                  $100

Management Costs                                    $89,000

Insurance                                                      $2,000

Office Expenses and Printing                         $800

Meeting and AGM Expenses                          $200

Business Hub Operations                          $25,500

TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES    $130,400

*Subject to approval at the 2024 AGM.

Approval of Annual ... 2.5 a

70



Overheads

Business Assistance Fund                                                                                         $5,000

Business Awards                                                                                                     $40,000

Update Member Database                                                                                        $5,000

Bi-monthly business magazine                                                                                 $5,000

Business Promotional Programme                                                                          $15,000

Christmas Competition                                                                                             $3,000

Website Development                                                                                              $2,500

Social Media Marketing                                                                                             $3,700                                 

Christmas Tree Storage                                                                                           $14,000

Event Support Fund                                                                                                 $11,000

Business Mentor Programme                                                                                   $6,000

TOTAL OVERHEADS                                                                         $110,200

DRAFT BUDGET 2025-2026

TOTAL EXPENSES                               $240,600

TOTAL INCOME                               $243,810

Approval of Annual ... 2.5 a

71



2025-2026

 D R A F T
B U S I N E S S

P L A N

N o r t h  W e s t  C o u n t r y  I n c o r p o r a t e d

w w w . n o r t h w e s t c o u n t r y . c o . n z

business association

Approval of  Draft B... 2.6 a

72



2024

CHAIR'S MESSAGE
We have come a long way in the last 12 months after significant flooding and our businesses
are starting to recover. Times, however, have still been tough with a deflating economy and
reduced customer spending. Our members have let us know that they are struggling and need
as much help as they can get to make it through another year.

On the back of this, we are continuing to make member support a priority for 2025. To do this
we are focusing on the areas that mean the most to members such as business support grants,
training grants, member discounts, increased area marketing and supporting community
events. We have now established a Business Assistance Grant where members can seek funding
to support a range of business activities that will enhance their business success.

We commenced our Business Solutions programme which has seen the introduction of the
Business Mentors programme which we will be continuing into 2025.

Our communication has improved and we are now hearing more from you our members, so we
will continue to strengthen how we listen to your needs. It is important that we represent all
businesses in our area so we will be undertaking a membership drive to reconnect and engage
with your our members.

The Executive Committee have been considering our budgets moving forward and how we
continue to deliver value in a more expensive world. We debated the need for increased
revenue to cover rising overheads and have agreed that we need to seek a rates increase from
our members. We have been wise with our funds, have invested wisely with our savings, and
managed our programme within budget.

I want to take this opportunity to thank our Executive Committee members who donate their
time and energy to tirelessly work for our members - every person is passionate about the
North West and making this a thriving business community. 

We look forward to serving you again in 2025.

James Scott

P A G E   1

Chair

Approval of  Draft B... 2.6 a

73



The North West - Auckland's creative playground and premiere place to live, work and do
business and the location of choice for Aucklander's looking for a new experience.

VISION AND VALUES

P A G E  2

Vision

Mission Statement
Your business support for a thriving community.

Adventurous - we are positive, we challenge, we explore, and we express ourselves
passionately.
Welcoming- We are down to earth, friendly and helpful.
Supportive - of each other with a strong sense of community.

Values

Approval of  Draft B... 2.6 a

74



PURPOSE

P A G E  3

Executive Committee members are empowered to be champions for the business association
and local businesses
Executive Committee members are welcomed onto the board with a strong onboarding
programme.
Business leaders are attracted to and welcomed to the Executive Committee positions.
Executive Committee members are provided with guides for how to communicate with
businesses at all levels.

Committee

We provide clarity to our members.
We provide regular and meaningful communications to all members in a format that they can
interact with.
We are responsive and able to help all business members.
We will promote events in our area and in neighbouring areas that will benefit our members.

Communication

We provide connections and connectivity opportunities for all members.
We connect with neighbouring business improvement districts to maximise the benefits and
reach for our members.
Executive Committee members connect individually with business owners within their
individual districts.
We bring a range of specialist trainers to the area to add benefits to members.

Connectivity

This is a living document which we will update on a regular basis to ensure we are always
providing the best service to our members. This plan provides direction to the Executive
Committee to guide decision making. All descriptors in the Business Plan highlighted in red
font below are directly aligned with the Annual Plan budget line items.

Approval of  Draft B... 2.6 a

75



HELPING GROW BUSINESS PROMOTING OUR DISTRICT

Provide relevant information to members
about the association’s activities and the
opportunities for promotion and assistance.

Provide bi-monthly business magazine to be
delivered to members
Undertake a complete update of website
including full business and member survey
Build information database on website for
members
Provide monthly e-newsletters to members.
Provide regular networking events
Upgrade the business hub to a business resilience
centre with support from AEM and grants.

Make our brand instantly recognisable.
Ensure our online presence is up to date and
relevant.
Update online presence to clearly indicate business
association as well as businesses we represent.
Issue window stickers to all businesses.
Continue online advertising to raise profile of area.
Hold events that raise the associations profile and
recognition.

Provide a Business Excellence Program for
members.

Adding relevant promotion, training
opportunities, mentoring and support to help
grow their businesses and encourage them
towards participating in our annual business
awards.
Provide training seminars and programs for
members.
Lift participation in 2025 Business Awards.
Develop and host promotional programmes for
members.
Assist businesses through the provision of a
business hub for meetings and hot desks, as well
as a location for staff training.

Work with businesses, agencies and iwi to
improve our townships and key destinations.

Work with council agencies and the Local Board to
improve the look and feel of our townships.
Investigate partnerships with businesses, council
and other agencies to progress town centre
improvements.
Advocate for a community response plan for all
townships.
Advocate to the Rodney Local Board on member
issues.
Assist business members with infrastructure issues
and communicating issues to the relevant
authorities for maintenance and repair.

Engage with organisations, agencies and
council.

Ensure the association understands the issues
affecting its members.
Be a strong advocate both at local and national
government level on behalf the association’s
membership.

Promote the District to Visitors
Support events across the area to encourage locals
to visit the business centres.
Assist businesses in local promotions.
Run competitions to encourage visitor spend.
Update website to provide better visitor
information.

BUSINESS PLAN
2025-2026

P A G E  4
Approval of  Draft B... 2.6 a

76



1 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

UNDER THE INCORPORATED 
SOCIETIES ACT 2022 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

RULES OF 
 
 
 

North West Country Incorporated 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Amendments to the ... 2.8 a

77



2 
 

1 Contents 
CHAPTER I - NAME AND OBJECTS ....................................................................................... 4 

1. INTERPRETATION ........................................................................................................ 4 
2. NAME ............................................................................................................................. 5 
3. OBJECTS ....................................................................................................................... 5 

CHAPTER II – POWERS ........................................................................................................... 6 
4. SCOPE OF THE ASSOCIATION'S POWERS ................................................................ 6 
5. CONTACT PERSON ...................................................................................................... 7 

CHAPTER III – ASSOCIATION MEMBERSHIP ......................................................................... 8 
6. MEMBERSHIP QUALIFICATIONS AND ENTITLEMENTS ............................................. 8 
7. TERMINATION OF MEMBERSHIP ................................................................................ 9 
8. MEMBERSHIP ENTITLEMENTS NOT TRANSFERABLE .............................................. 9 
9. REGISTER OF MEMBERS ...........................................................................................10 
10. FEES, SUBSCRIPTIONS, ETC. ................................................................................10 
11. MEMBER'S LIABILITIES ...........................................................................................10 
12. DISCIPLINING OF MEMBERS ..................................................................................10 
13. MEMBER DEALINGS WITH AND INTERESTS IN THE ASSOCIATION ...................12 

CHAPTER IV – COMMITTEES .................................................................................................13 
14. POWERS AND AUTHORITY OF EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE ....................................13 
15. MEMBERSHIP OF EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE .........................................................14 
16. ELECTION OF MEMBERS TO EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE .......................................15 
17. OFFICERS ................................................................................................................16 
18. CHAIRPERSON, DEPUTY CHAIRPERSON AND SECRETARY ..............................17 
19. TREASURER ............................................................................................................18 
20. AUDITOR ..................................................................................................................18 
21. CASUAL VACANCIES ...............................................................................................19 
22. REMOVAL OF MEMBER ..........................................................................................20 
23. MEETINGS OF EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE AND QUORUM .....................................20 
24. VOTING AND DECISIONS OF EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE AND SUB-COMMITTEE 21 
25. DELEGATION BY EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE TO SUB-COMMITTEE ......................21 

CHAPTER V - GENERAL MEETINGS ......................................................................................22 
26. ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING .................................................................................22 
27. ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING - CALLING AND BUSINESS ...................................22 
28. SPECIAL GENERAL MEETINGS ..............................................................................23 
29. NOTICE .....................................................................................................................23 
30. PROCEDURE............................................................................................................24 

Amendments to the ... 2.8 a

78



3 
 

31. PRESIDING MEMBER ..............................................................................................25 
32. ADJOURNMENT .......................................................................................................25 
33. MAKING OF DECISIONS ..........................................................................................25 
34. SPECIAL RESOLUTION ...........................................................................................26 
35. VOTING AT GENERAL MEETINGS INCLUDING AGM ............................................26 

CHAPTER VI – MISCELLANEOUS ..........................................................................................26 
36. INSURANCE .............................................................................................................26 
37. FUNDS – MANAGEMENT .........................................................................................27 
38. ALTERATION OF OBJECTS AND RULES ................................................................27 
39. COMMON SEAL ........................................................................................................27 
40. CUSTODY OF BOOKS, ETC. ...................................................................................28 
41. SERVICE OF NOTICES ............................................................................................28 
42. WINDING UP.............................................................................................................28 
43. DISPUTES AND COMPLAINTS ................................................................................29 

 

 
 
 
 

  

Amendments to the ... 2.8 a

79



4 
 

RULES OF THE North West Country Incorporated 
 

CHAPTER I - NAME AND OBJECTS 
 

1. INTERPRETATION 
 

In these Rules, unless the context indicates otherwise: 
 
"Act" means the Incorporated Societies Act 2022 as amended from time to time; 
 
"Annual Financial Statement" means the Annual Financial Statement for the Association to 
be approved by the Members, so that it may then be delivered to the Registrar of Incorporated 
Societies in accordance with the Act; 
 
"Annual General Meeting" has the meaning given to it in Rule 26; 
 
"Associate Member" means a member of the Association admitted pursuant to Rule 6.6; 
 
"Association" means the North West Country Incorporated; 
 
"Auditor" means the auditor appointed in accordance with Rule 20; 
 
“BID Policy” refers to the adopted Auckland Council Business Improvement District (BID) 
Policy; 
 
"BID Targeted Rate Grant" means any funding received by the Association from the Council 
for the purposes of the BID Programme; 
 
"Business Improvement District Programme" or "BID Programme" means the economic 
development programme involving the Council, the business community and other 
stakeholders to organise, design, promote, improve and develop the North West Country 
Incorporated commercial district; 
 
"Business Improvement District Targeted Rate" or "BID Targeted Rate" means any rate set 
by the Council pursuant to section 16 of the Local Government (Rating) Act 2002 or any 
equivalent legislation in order to provide, or contribute to, the BID Targeted Rate Grant; 
 
"Business Improvement District Targeted Rating Area" or "BID Targeted Rating Area" means 
the geographical area subject to the BID Targeted Rate, as defined for the purposes of the 
Auckland Council rating information database; 
 
"Chairperson" means the chairperson of the Association referred to in Rule 18; 
 
"Council" means the Auckland Council; 
 
"Executive Committee" means the committee of the Association referred to in Rule 15; 
 

Amendments to the ... 2.8 a

80



5 
 

"Full Member" means a member of the Association in terms of Rule 6.1; 
 
"General Meetings" means the Annual General Meeting and Special General Meetings of the 
Association; 

 
"Local Board" means the local board of the Council within whose local board area the BID 
Programme operates; 
 
“Local Board Representative” means the member of the Local Board who is appointed by the 
Local Board to represent it in matters relating to the BID Programme, and includes any other 
member of the Local Board who is authorised by the Local Board to act in place of that 
appointee if he or she is absent or unavailable; 
 
"Members" means the members of the Association from time to time including Associate 
Members and Full Members; 
 
“North West Business District” means the geographical area subject to the BID Targeted Rate, 
as defined for the purposes of the Auckland Council rating information database; which 
includes the commercial districts of Kaukapakapa, Helensville, Parakai, Waimauku, Huapai, 
Kumeu & Riverhead. 
 
"Officers" means a natural person who is a member of the Executive Committee or a person 
occupying a position within the society that allows them to exercise significant influence over 
the management of the society through voting rights, including any manager, in accordance 
with Rule 17; 
 
"Secretary" means the Secretary of the Association referred to in Rule 18; 
 
"Special General Meeting" has the meaning given to it in Rule 28; 
 
"Special Resolution" has the meaning given to it in Rule 34; 
 
"Treasurer" means the Treasurer of the Association referred to in Rule 19. 
 
References to Persons: references in these Rules to persons include references to 
individuals, companies, corporations, partnerships, firms, joint ventures, associations, trusts, 
organisations or other entities. 

 

2. NAME 
 
The name of the Association is the North West Country Incorporated. 
 
 

3. OBJECTS 
 
3.1 The objects of the Association are: 

 

Amendments to the ... 2.8 a

81



6 
 

3.1.1. To assist and guide the development and advancement of the commercial interests 
of business people and businesses in the North West Business District through a 
co-ordinated, structured and measurable communications, marketing and 
economic development programme. 

 

3.1.2. To foster and promote generally the welfare of the business community of North 
West Business District and, in particular, to provide a forum for networking and 
collaboration of members, and sharing of information. 

 
3.1.3. To improve the environment of the North West Business District so as to attract 

and retain business in order to drive employment and economic growth. 
 
3.1.4. To capitalise on the unique assets and profile of the North West Business District 

and to use that as a means of establishing an identity and positioning for the area. 
 
3.1.5. To make arrangements with and/or advocate to the Government, local authorities 

and/or persons, corporations or associations for the improvement of amenity, 
streetscapes, utilities, transport, services or other infrastructure, and for lighting, 
surfacing, security and cleaning to the benefit of the North West Business District. 

 
3.1.6. For the purposes and objects stated in these Rules, to administer the BID Targeted 

Rate Grant Funding. 
 
3.1.7. To do all things as are, or may be incidental to, or conducive to, the attainment of 

these objects. 
 

CHAPTER II – POWERS 
 

4. SCOPE OF THE ASSOCIATION'S POWERS 
 

The Association has the widest possible powers to do all things which may be necessary 
to pursue the Association's objects including (but not limited to) the following powers: 
 

4.1. To purchase, take on, lease, exchange, hire, or otherwise acquire any real or personal 
property, and to sell, mortgage, dispose of or otherwise deal with any real or personal 
property of the Association and any rights or privileges which the Association thinks 
necessary or expedient for the purposes of attaining the objects of the Association or 
promoting the interests of the Association, its Members or any other persons. 

 
4.2. Subject to Rule 14, to use the funds of the Association as the Association may consider 

necessary or proper to 
 

4.2.1. pay the costs and expenses of the Association; and 
 

4.2.2. further the objects of the Association; 
 

Amendments to the ... 2.8 a

82



7 
 

including the employment of solicitors, agents, officers and servants as necessary or 
expedient. 
 

4.3. To engage in prosecuting, defending or otherwise taking any legal action or legal 
proceedings on behalf of the Association and for that purpose, to expend such moneys 
and employ such solicitors, counsel and other advisors as the Association may think fit. 

 
4.4. To apply for and acquire any licences or permits deemed necessary by the Association. 

 
4.5. To open and operate bank accounts of whatever nature or description subject to such 

conditions as the Association thinks fit. 
 

4.6. To assist any charity or charitable purpose by such financial or other means as the 
Association thinks fit. 

 
4.7. To borrow or raise money by any means and upon such conditions as the Association 

thinks fit. 
 

4.8. To employ staff and nominate contractors for such purposes and for such periods and 
subject to such conditions as the Association thinks fit. 

 
4.9. To establish an Executive Committee with the functions and powers set out in these 

Rules. 
 

5. CONTACT PERSON 
The Society shall have at least 1 but no more than 3 contact person(s) whom the Registrar 
can contact when needed. 

5.1. The Society’s contact person must be: 

5.1.1. At least 18 years of age, and 
5.1.2. Ordinarily resident in New Zealand. 

 
5.2. A contact person can be appointed by the Committee or elected by the Members at 

a General Meeting. 
 

5.3. Each contact person’s name must be provided to the Registrar of Incorporated Societies, 
along with their contact details, including: 

5.3.1. a physical address or an electronic address, and 
5.3.2. a telephone number. 

 
5.4. Any change in that contact person or that person’s name or contact details shall be 

advised to the Registrar of Incorporated Societies within 20 Working Days of that change 
occurring, or the Society becoming aware of the change. 

 

Amendments to the ... 2.8 a

83



8 
 

CHAPTER III – ASSOCIATION MEMBERSHIP 
 

6. MEMBERSHIP QUALIFICATIONS AND ENTITLEMENTS 
 
6.1. There shall be Full Members of the Association. A person shall be entitled to be a Full 

Member of the Association if the person: 
 
6.1.1. owns one or more commercially rated properties within the Targeted Rating Area; 

or 
 
6.1.2. occupies or is the tenant of one or more premises (with a floor space of not less 

than 10sqm) of a commercially rated property within the Targeted Rating Area 
and who operates a business from those premises for not less than 50 business 
days a year; and 

 
6.1.3. has not previously been expelled from the Association, unless the Executive 

Committee has resolved to readmit that person under Rule 12.1.55. 
 

6.2. For the avoidance of doubt, a person may be a Full Member only once at the same time, 
even though that person may be entitled under Rule 6.1 to be a Full Member on more 
than one ground. 

 
6.3. A Full Member is entitled to: 

 
6.3.1. Attend and vote at all General Meetings; 
 
6.3.2. Attend all meetings of the Executive Committee (but not vote); 
 
6.3.3. Stand for election to the Executive Committee; 
 
6.3.4. Receive regular communications about Business Improvement District 

Programme activities; 
 

6.3.5. Receive notification of upcoming meetings and agenda items. 
 

 
6.4. Any person entitled to be a Full Member of the Association and who wishes to be a 

member shall provide and maintain current details of their name, occupation, business 
and contact information to the Secretary. Every applicant for membership must consent 
in writing to becoming a Member and this consent shall be retained in the Association’s 
membership records. 
 

 
6.5. Any person who ceases to be entitled to be a Full Member of the Association shall 

immediately provide notice of that fact, and of the date their entitlement ceased, to the 
Secretary. 

 

Amendments to the ... 2.8 a

84



9 
 

6.6. There may be Associate Members of the Association. A person who does not qualify 
to be a Full Member may become an Associate Member of the Association by applying 
to the Secretary to do so. The Secretary shall advise the Executive Committee of the 
application and the Executive Committee shall determine at its next scheduled 
Executive Committee meeting whether or not the applicant shall be admitted. 

 
6.7. An Associate Member shall, in each year, pay a Special Subscription of such amount 

as is determined by the Executive Committee from time to time. 
 
6.8. An Associate Member is not entitled to stand for election to the Executive Committee, 

but may be appointed by the Executive Committee to be a member of the Executive 
Committee or of a sub-committee. 

 
6.9. An Associate Member is not entitled to vote on any Association matters except and to 

the extent that he or she has been appointed as a voting member of the Executive 
Committee or a sub-committee. 

 
6.10. For the avoidance of doubt, reference to a "person" in these Rules relating to 

membership of the Association is a reference to any separate legal entity such as an 
individual, company, association or incorporated society. 

 
6.11. Each Member which is not an individual shall designate an individual representative to 

act on its behalf on all matters relating to the Association, and shall notify the Secretary 
of that representative's name and contact information. Any such Member may change 
their representative, but no such change is effective until notice of the change and the 
name and contact information of the new representative is received by the Secretary. 

 
 

7. TERMINATION OF MEMBERSHIP 
 
7.1. A person ceases to be a Member of the Association if the person: 

 
7.1.1. dies, becomes bankrupt or, being a company or other incorporated body is wound 

up; or 
 
7.1.2. resigns that membership by notice in writing to the Association; or 
 
7.1.3. is expelled from the Association; or 
 
7.1.4. ceases to be entitled to be a Full Member in terms of Rule 6.1 and has not been 

admitted as an Associate Member. 

8. MEMBERSHIP ENTITLEMENTS NOT TRANSFERABLE 
 
A right, privilege or obligation which a person has, by reason of being a Member of the 
Association: 
 
8.1. is not capable of being transferred or transmitted to another person; and 
 

Amendments to the ... 2.8 a

85



10 
 

8.2. terminates upon cessation of the person's membership. 
 
 

9. REGISTER OF MEMBERS 
 
9.1. The Secretary of the Association shall establish and maintain a register of Members of 

the Association pursuant to the Act specifying the name, occupation, business and 
contact details of each person who is a Member of the Association, whether that person 
is a Full or Associate Member and, in the case of members which are not individuals, 
the name and address of that Member's individual representative. 

 
9.2. Each Member shall advise the Secretary if there is any change to any of the information 

in the register relating to that Member. 
 
9.3. The register of Members shall be kept at the principal place of administration of the 

Association and shall be open for inspection, free of charge, by any Member of the 
Association at any reasonable hour. 

 
 

10. FEES, SUBSCRIPTIONS, ETC. 
 
10.1. The Association may levy its Members such fee or subscription charge (if any) 

considered by the Executive Committee necessary to carry out its objects. 
 

10.2. Any Member ceasing to be a member of the Association pursuant to Rule 7 shall not 
be entitled to any refund of any fee or subscription charge paid or payable by that 
Member prior to his, her or its termination and such Member shall continue to remain 
liable to pay such fee or subscription charge despite ceasing to be a Member. 

 
 

11. MEMBER'S LIABILITIES 
 

The liability of a Member of the Association to contribute towards the payment of the debts 
and liabilities of the Association or the costs, charges and expenses of the winding up of 
the Association is limited to the amount, if any, unpaid by the Member in respect of 
membership of the Association as required by Rule 6.7 and Rule 10. In the event any 
Member ceases to be a Member of the Association pursuant to Rule 7 such Member shall 
not be released from any liability to the Association for any matters arising prior to the end 
of the financial year in which the Member ceased to be a Member. 
 

12. DISCIPLINING OF MEMBERS 
 

12.1. Where the Executive Committee is reasonably of the opinion that a Member of the 
Association: 

 

Amendments to the ... 2.8 a

86



11 
 

12.1.1. has persistently refused or neglected to comply with a provision or provisions of 
these Rules; or 

 
12.1.2. has persistently and wilfully acted in a manner prejudicial to the interests of the 

Association; or 
 
12.1.3. has failed to pay any subscription or charge payable under Rule 10 or any 

Special Subscription payable under Rule 6.7 or otherwise failed to make any 
payment due under these Rules and such failure continues for a period of three 
calendar months after it is due; or 

 
12.1.4. does anything which, in the opinion of the Executive Committee in its absolute 

discretion is likely to seriously harm the reputation of the Association or the 
objects of the Association in general; 

 
the Executive Committee may by resolution: 

 
12.1.5. remove that Member's entitlement to vote at any General Meeting until such 

time as payment is made in full; or 
 
12.1.6. expel the Member of the Association; or 
 
12.1.7. suspend the Member from membership of the Association for a specified period. 

 
12.2. A resolution of the Executive Committee under Rule 12.1 is of no effect unless the 

Executive Committee confirms the resolution at a meeting held not earlier than fourteen 
days and not later than twenty-eight days after service on the Member of a notice under 
Rule 12.3. 
 

12.3. Where the Executive Committee passes a resolution under Rule 12.1, the Secretary 
shall, as soon as practicable, cause a notice in writing to be served on the Member: 

 
12.3.1. setting out the resolution of the Executive Committee and the grounds on which 

it is based; 
 

12.3.2. stating that the Member may address the Executive Committee at a meeting to 
be held not earlier than fourteen days and not later than twenty-eight days after 
service of the notice; 

 
12.3.3. stating the date, place and time of that meeting; and 

 
12.3.4. informing the Member that the Member may do either or both of the following: 

 
a) attend and speak at that meeting; 

 
b) submit to the Executive Committee at or prior to the date of that meeting 

written representations relating to the resolution. 
 
 

12.4 At a meeting of the Executive Committee held in accordance with Rule 12.3, the 
Executive Committee shall: 

Amendments to the ... 2.8 a

87



12 
 

 
12.4.1 allow the Member to bring a supporting person; 
 
12.4.2 give the Member an opportunity to make oral representations; 
 
12.4.3 give due consideration to any written representations submitted to the Executive 

Committee by the Member at or prior to the meeting; and 
 

12.4.4 by resolution determine whether to confirm or to revoke the resolution. 
 

12.5 The Executive Committee may, in its absolute discretion, resolve to readmit as a 
Member of the Association any person who has been previously expelled from the 
Association and is otherwise entitled to be a Full Member or an Associate Member, 
as the case may be, of the Association. 

 

13. MEMBER DEALINGS WITH AND INTERESTS IN THE ASSOCIATION 
 
13.1. Any Member who is or may be interested or concerned directly or indirectly in any 

property or undertaking in which the Association is or may be in any way concerned 
or involved: 

 
13.1.1. must disclose the nature and extent of that Member’s interest to the other 

Members. A dated record should be kept in the Association’s interests register; 
and 

 
13.1.2. must not take any part whatever in any deliberation concerning any matter in 

which that Member is or may be interested other than as a Member of the 
Association. 

 
13.2. No private pecuniary profit shall be made by any person from the Association except 

that: 
 

13.2.1. any Member may receive full reimbursement for all expenses properly incurred 
by that Member in connection with the affairs of the Association; 

 
13.2.2. the Association may pay reasonable remuneration to any officer or servant of the 

Association (whether a Member or not) in return for services actually rendered to 
the Association; 

 
13.2.3. any Member may be paid all usual professional, business or trade charges for 

services rendered, time expended and all acts done by the Member, or by any 
firm or entity of which that Member is a member, employee or associate in 
connection with the affairs of the Association; 

 
13.3. any Member may retain any remuneration properly payable to that Member by any 

company or undertaking with which the Association may be in any way concerned or 
involved for which that Member has acted in any capacity whatever, notwithstanding 
that the Member's connection with that company or undertaking is in any way 
attributable to that Member's connection with the Association. 

Amendments to the ... 2.8 a

88



13 
 

 

CHAPTER IV – COMMITTEES 
 

14. POWERS AND AUTHORITY OF EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE 
 
The Association shall be governed by an Executive Committee which: 
 
14.1. shall control and manage the affairs of the Association; 

 
14.1.1. may exercise all such functions as may be exercised by a General Meeting of 

Members of the Association; 
 

14.1.2. may fix the amount of any fee or subscription charge to be paid by members, which 
may be in several parts or categories; 

 
14.2. has power to perform all such acts and do all such things as appear to the Executive 

Committee to be necessary or desirable for the proper management of the affairs of 
the Association; 

 
14.2.1. shall be responsible for managing any staff of the Association; 

 
14.2.2. shall be responsible for co-ordinating with the Council any ballot in relation to the 

Business Improvement District Targeted Rating Area required by the Council.; 
 

14.3. shall carry out the affairs of the Business Improvement District Programme on behalf 
of the Association, which includes: 

 
14.3.1. identifying strategic opportunities; 

 
14.3.2. establishing a programme of activities, projects and priorities to further the BID 

Programme; 
 

14.3.3. allocating the Business Improvement District Targeted Rate Grant; 
 

14.3.4. overseeing the spending of approved budgets; 
 

14.3.5. monitoring work progress against approved budgets and performance measures; 
 

14.3.6. establishing any sub-committee to deal with specific projects as the Executive 
Committee deems appropriate; 

 
14.3.7. reporting to the Local Board or the Governing Body of the Council as required; 

 
14.3.8. any other matters relating to the Business Improvement District Programme as set 

out in the BID Policy. 
 

14.4. shall be responsible for arranging for the preparation of: 

Amendments to the ... 2.8 a

89



14 
 

 
14.4.1. each year, a detailed annual plan and budget, showing expected income and 

expenditure, covering the following 12 month period; 
 

14.4.2. a strategic plan covering the following three to five year period; 
 

14.4.3. each year, an annual report reviewing the previous year's activities; 
 

14.4.4. annual audited accounts; 
 
14.4.5. annual accountability reporting to Auckland Council as required under the BID 

Policy. 
 

14.5. shall be responsible for accounting for the Business Improvement District Targeted 
Rate Grant. 

 
14.6. shall be responsible for ensuring that the Association complies with these Rules and 

all applicable laws and regulations including all aspects of the BID Policy. 
 

15. MEMBERSHIP OF EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE 
 
15.1. The Executive Committee shall consist of: 

 
15.1.1. at least seven Officers; and  

 
15.1.2. an uneven number of members; and 
 
15.1.3. no less than five voting members; and 

 
15.1.4. no more than thirteen voting members and two non-voting members. 

 
15.2. The Executive Committee shall consist of minimum members representative from 

the following townships within the BID area; 
 

• Kaukapakapa   1 member 

• Helensville   1 member 

• Parakai   1 member 

• Waimauku   1 member 

• Kumeu & Huapai  1 member 

• Riverhead   1 member 

• Chairperson   1 member 
 

15.3. Subject to Rule 24 the voting members of the Executive Committee shall be: 
 

15.3.1. at least five Full Members of the Association, to be elected by the Association 
pursuant to Rule 16; 

 
15.3.2. any other person appointed under Rule 16.3 to be a voting member of the 

Executive Committee. 

Amendments to the ... 2.8 a

90



15 
 

 
15.4. Subject to Rule 15.1 the Executive Committee may from time to time appoint any 

person who it considers appropriate, including the Local Board Representative, to be a 
voting or non-voting member of the Executive Committee. 

 
Where that person is appointed as a voting member, they shall become an Officer of 
the Society. 
 
The Executive Committee shall give consideration to achieving a selection of 
representation across the various types and categories of businesses located within 
the BID Targeted Rating Area. 

 
15.5. Each member of the Executive Committee elected under Rule 16.3 shall, subject to 

these Rules, hold office until the conclusion of the Annual General Meeting following 
the date of the third anniversary of the member's election, but is eligible for re-election.  

 
15.5.1. At each Annual General Meeting at least 3 of the Executive Committee members 

shall retire from office each year, but shall be eligible for re-election at that meeting. 
 

15.5.2. The Executive Committee Members to retire at any Annual General Meeting must 
be those who have been longest in office since their last election, but, as between 
persons who became Executive Committee Members on the same day, those to 
retire must be determined by lot, unless otherwise agreed between themselves.  

 
15.5.3. An Executive Committee Member retiring holds office until the conclusion of the 

Annual General Meeting at which time that Executive Committee Member retires 
but is eligible for re-election unless a conflict of interest has arisen in which case 
the position shall be vacated. 

 
15.6. The Executive Committee may at any time remove, or change the voting status of, 

any member of the Executive Committee appointed under Rule 16.3. 
 

15.7. In the event of a casual vacancy occurring in the membership of the Executive 
Committee, the casual vacancy shall be filled as follows: 

 
15.7.1. in the case of a person elected under Rule 15.3.1, the casual vacancy shall be 

filled by the Executive Committee; 
 

15.7.2. in the case of a person appointed under Rule 15.3.2, the casual vacancy shall, if 
the Executive Committee wishes to fill the vacancy, be filled by the Executive 
Committee. 

 
15.8. The Members appointed to fill a casual vacancy under Rule 15.7.1 shall hold office 

subject to these Rules until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting 
following the date of appointment. 

 

16. ELECTION OF MEMBERS TO EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE  
 

Amendments to the ... 2.8 a

91



16 
 

16.1. The majority of candidates for each position as defined in 15.2 must qualify as a Full 
Member of the Association and have businesses based in the township they are 
standing for. 

 
16.2. Nominations of candidates for election as members of the Executive Committee: 

 
16.2.1. shall be made in writing on an approved nomination form with biographical details 

and all parts or questions completed along with a current photograph, signed by 
two Full Members of the Association and accompanied by the written consent of 
the candidate (which may be endorsed on the form of the nomination); and 

 
16.2.2. shall be delivered to the Secretary of the Association not less than seven days 

before the date fixed for the holding of the Annual General Meeting at which the 
election is to take place. 

 
16.3. If insufficient nominations are received to fill all vacancies, the candidates nominated 

shall be deemed to be elected and further nominations shall be received at the Annual 
General Meeting. 

 
16.4. If insufficient further nominations are received, any vacant positions remaining shall 

be deemed to be casual vacancies. 
 
16.5. If the number of nominations received is equal to the number of vacancies to be filled, 

the persons nominated shall be deemed to be elected. 
 
16.6. If the number of nominations received exceeds the number of vacancies to be filled a 

poll shall be held. 
 
16.7. Any such poll shall be conducted at the Annual General Meeting in such usual and 

proper manner as the Executive Committee may direct. 
 
16.8. In the event of an equality of votes between two or more candidates an exhaustive 

poll will be held to determine the person elected. 
 

16.9. Candidates for Executive Committee cannot stand for more than one position and 
cannot stand for the Chairpersons position. 

 

17. OFFICERS 
17.1. All Officers of the society must meet the qualifications for officers as set out in the 

Act, and: 
 

17.1.1. has consented in writing to be an officer of the Society, and 
 

17.1.2. certifies that they are not disqualified from being elected or appointed or 
otherwise holding office as an Officer of the Society. 

 
17.2. All Officers shall act in good faith in what they believe to be the best interests of the 

Society at all times. 
 

Amendments to the ... 2.8 a

92



17 
 

17.3. The election of an Officer shall be made by a general member vote at the Annual 
General Meeting. 

 
17.4. The election of an Officer shall be conducted by such standard voting method (for 

example poll or show of hands) as is appropriate given the number of candidates and 
whether the election is being made at an Annual General Meeting or a meeting of the 
Executive Committee. 

 
17.5. Where a vacancy for an Officer occurs at an Annual General Meeting, that vacancy 

shall be filled by resolution of the Executive Committee.  Any such appointments must 
be ratified at the next Annual General Meeting. 
 

17.6. An Officer ceases to hold office when they resign (by notice in writing to 
the Executive Committee), are removed, die, or otherwise vacate office in 
accordance with the Act. 

17.7. Each Officer shall within 10 Working Days of submitting a resignation or ceasing 
to hold office, deliver to the Executive Committee all books, papers and other 
property of the Society held by such former Officer. 

18. CHAIRPERSON, DEPUTY CHAIRPERSON AND SECRETARY 
 
18.1. The election of a member of the Executive Committee as the Chairperson shall be 

made by a general member vote at the Annual General Meeting. 
 
18.2. The election of a member of the Executive Committee as the Deputy Chairperson will 

be made by the Executive Committee at its first meeting following the Annual General 
Meeting. 

 
18.3. The election of the Chairperson shall be conducted by ballot as is appropriate given 

the number of candidates. 
 
18.4. The Executive Committee shall appoint or elect one member as the Secretary of the 

Association. 
 
18.5. If the Local Board Representative is a member of the Executive Committee he or she 

may not: 
 
18.5.1. be the Chairperson or the Secretary; or 

 
18.5.2. vote on the election of the Chairperson or Secretary. 
 

18.6. It is the duty of the Secretary to keep minutes of: 
 
18.6.1. all elections and appointments of Officers and members of the Executive 

Committee; 
 
18.6.2. the names of members of the Executive Committee present at each Executive 

Committee meeting and General Meeting; and 
 

Amendments to the ... 2.8 a

93



18 
 

18.6.3. all proceedings at Executive Committee meetings and General Meetings. 
 

18.7. Minutes of proceedings at a meeting shall be signed by the Chairperson of the 
meeting or by the Chairperson of the next succeeding meeting. 

 

19. TREASURER 
 

19.1. The election of a member of the Executive Committee as Treasurer may be made 
either by a general member vote at the Annual General Meeting or by the Executive 
Committee at its first meeting following the Annual General Meeting. The decision 
whether an election is made at the Annual General Meeting, or by the Executive 
Committee, is made at an Annual General Meeting, with that decision taking effect for 
the purposes of the following year's election, and at all subsequent elections unless 
changed by vote at an Annual General Meeting (again with effect from the following 
year's election). 

 
19.2. The election of the Treasurer shall be conducted by such standard voting method (for 

example poll or show of hands) as is appropriate given the number of candidates and 
whether the election is being made at an Annual General Meeting or a meeting of the 
Executive Committee. 

 
19.3. If the Local Board Representative is a member of the Executive Committee he or she 

may not: 
 
19.3.1. be the Treasurer; or 

 
19.3.2. vote on the election of the Treasurer. 
 

19.4. Despite Rules 19.1 and 19.2, in the event that no member of the Executive 
Committee is qualified, and wishes, to act as Treasurer, the Executive Committee 
may engage a professionally qualified person (not necessarily a member of the 
Association) to act as Treasurer of the Association. 

 
19.5. It is the duty of the Treasurer of the Association to ensure that: 

 
19.5.1. all money due to the Association is collected and received and all payments 

authorised by the Association are made; 
 
19.5.2. correct books and accounts are kept showing the financial affairs of the Association 

including full details of all receipts and expenditure connected with the activities of 
the Association. 

 
 

20. AUDITOR 
 

20.1. The Auditor shall be appointed by the Association on an annual basis to carry out 
the functions set out in this Rule. 

 

Amendments to the ... 2.8 a

94



19 
 

20.2. No person who is an Officer or a Member may be appointed as Auditor. 
 
20.3. The remuneration of the Auditor shall be fixed by the Association. 
 
20.4. If any casual vacancy occurs in the office of any Auditor appointed by the 

Association, the Executive Committee shall appoint an Auditor to carry on the duties 
of the Auditor until the next Annual General Meeting. 

 
20.5. Every Auditor shall be supplied with a copy of the accounts and statements. It shall 

be the Auditor's duty to thoroughly examine the accounts and statements, all 
minutes and such other information as is requested. 

 
20.6. The Auditor shall be a member of the institute of chartered accountants and conduct 

the audit in terms of the guidelines of the institute. 
 
20.7. The Auditor shall provide the Members with a report regarding the accounts and 

statements. In that report, the Auditor shall state whether, in his or her opinion, the 
accounts and statements are full and fair accounts and statements containing the 
particulars required by the Rules, and whether the accounts and statements have 
been properly drawn up so as to exhibit a true and correct view of the Association’s 
affairs. The Auditors report shall be read together with the report of the Executive 
Committee at the Annual General Meeting. The report shall be forwarded to the 
Council. 

 

21. CASUAL VACANCIES 
 
21.1. For the purposes of these Rules, a casual vacancy in the office of a member of the 

Executive Committee occurs if the member: 
 

21.1.1. dies; 
 

21.1.2. ceases to be a Member of the Association; 
 
21.1.3. is declared bankrupt; 
 
21.1.4. resigns office by notice in writing given to the Secretary; 
 
21.1.5. is removed from office under Rule 22; 
 
21.1.6. becomes of unsound mind or becomes a person who is liable to be dealt with in 

any way under the law relating to mental health; 
 
21.1.7. fails to attend three meetings in succession without apologies being tendered and 

accepted by resolution of the Executive Committee, or without having been granted 
leave of absence by resolution of the Executive Committee; or 

 
21.1.8. commits a crime punishable by imprisonment. 

 

Amendments to the ... 2.8 a

95



20 
 

22. REMOVAL OF MEMBER 
 
22.1. The Association in a General Meeting may, by resolution, remove any of the 

Association members of the Executive Committee from office before the expiration of 
the member's term of office. 

 
22.2. Where a member of the Executive Committee to whom a proposed resolution referred 

to in Rule 22.1 relates: 
 
22.2.1. makes representations in writing (not exceeding a reasonable length) to the 

Secretary or Chairperson; and 
 

22.2.2. requests that the representations be notified to the Members of the Association; 
 
 

then the Secretary or Chairperson may send a copy of the representations to each Member of 
the Association. If they are not so sent, the Member is entitled to require that the 
representations be read out at the meeting at which the resolution is considered. 

 

23. MEETINGS OF EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE AND QUORUM 
 

23.1. The Executive Committee shall endeavour to meet monthly but in all events shall meet 
not less than six times in each period of twelve months, and at such time and place 
as shall be decided by the Executive Committee. 

 
23.2. Additional meetings of the Executive Committee may be convened by the Chairperson 

or by any member of the Executive Committee. 
 
23.3. Oral or written notice (including by way of email) of a meeting of the Executive 

Committee shall be given by the Secretary to each member of the Executive 
Committee at least 48 hours (or such other period as may be unanimously agreed 
upon by the members of the Executive Committee) before the time appointed for the 
holding of the meeting. 
 

23.4. A member of the Executive Committee unable to attend a meeting in person may 
attend by way of an electronic means. 
 

23.5. Any five voting full members of the Executive Committee constitute a quorum for the 
transaction of the business of a meeting of the Executive Committee. 
 

23.6. No business shall be transacted by the Executive Committee unless a quorum is 
present within half an hour of the time appointed for the meeting. If a quorum is not 
present, the meeting stands adjourned to the same place and at the same hour of the 
same day in the following week. 
 

23.7. If at the adjourned meeting, a quorum is not present within half an hour of the time 
appointed for the meeting, then any three members present shall constitute a quorum. 
 

Amendments to the ... 2.8 a

96



21 
 

23.8. At a meeting of the Executive Committee the Chairperson or, in the Chairperson's 
absence, any member of the Executive Committee nominated to stand in his/her place 
shall preside. 

 

24. VOTING AND DECISIONS OF EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE AND SUB-
COMMITTEE 

 
24.1. The voting rights of members of the Executive Committee shall be as follows: 
 

24.1.1. Each Full Member shall be entitled to one vote; 
 

24.1.2. Subject to Rules 19.3.2 and 18.5.2, each person appointed under Rule 15.4 as a 
voting member shall be entitled to one vote. 

 
24.2. Matters arising at a meeting of the Executive Committee or of any sub-committee 

appointed by the Executive Committee shall be determined by a majority of the votes 
of members of that committee present at the meeting and entitled to vote. 

 
24.3. The Chairperson of the meeting is entitled to exercise a second or casting vote, but 

only to preserve the status quo. 
 
24.4. Subject to Rule 23.5, the Executive Committee may act notwithstanding any 

vacancy on the Executive Committee. 
 
24.5. Any act or thing done or suffered, or purporting to have been done or suffered by 

the Executive Committee or by a sub-committee appointed by the Executive 
Committee, is valid and effectual notwithstanding any defect that may afterwards be 
discovered in the appointment or qualification of any member of that committee. 

 

25. DELEGATION BY EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE TO SUB-COMMITTEE 
 

25.1. The Executive Committee may delegate to one or more sub-committees (consisting 
of such Member or Members of the Association, or such other persons, as the 
Executive Committee thinks fit) the exercise of such of the functions of the Executive 
Committee as the Executive Committee may decide. 

 
25.2. A function which has been delegated to a sub-committee under this Rule may be 

exercised by that committee in accordance with the terms of the delegation, while 
the delegation remains unrevoked. 

 
25.3. Notwithstanding any delegation under this Rule, the Executive Committee may 

continue to exercise any function delegated. 
 
25.4. Any act or thing done or suffered by a sub-committee acting in the exercise of a 

delegation under this Rule has the same force and effect as it would have if it had 
been done or suffered by the Executive Committee. 

 

Amendments to the ... 2.8 a

97



22 
 

25.5. The Executive Committee may, in writing, revoke wholly or in part any delegation 
under this Rule. 

 
25.6. A sub-committee may meet and adjourn as it thinks proper. 
 

CHAPTER V - GENERAL MEETINGS 
 

26. ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING 
 

26.1. The Association shall, at least once in each calendar year, and within the period of 
four months after the expiration of each financial year of the Association, convene an 
Annual General Meeting of its Members. 

 
 

27. ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING - CALLING AND BUSINESS 
 

27.1. The Annual General Meeting of the Association shall, subject to the Act and to Rule 
266, be convened on such date and at such place and time as the Executive 
Committee thinks fit. 

 
27.2. In addition to any other business which may be transacted at an Annual General 

Meeting, the business of an Annual General Meeting shall be: 
 

27.2.1. to confirm the Minutes of the last preceding Annual General Meeting and of any 
Special General Meeting held since that meeting; 

 
27.2.1.1. to receive from the Executive Committee reports on the activities of the 

Association during the preceding financial year; 
 
27.2.2. to approve the Annual Financial Statements; 
 
27.2.3. to approve the proposed BID Targeted Rate Grant for the following financial 

year, provided that any increase by more than 10% or $10,000 (whichever is 
greater) over the current year’s BID Targeted Rate Grant may only be made by 
Special Resolution; 

 
27.2.4. to elect members of the Executive Committee; 
 
27.2.5. if necessary, to decide the method of election of the Chairperson and/or the 

Treasurer for the following year's election (refer to Rules 18.1 and 19.1); 
 
27.2.6. if it is has been decided that the Chairperson and/or the Treasurer will be elected 

at the Annual General Meeting, to elect the Chairperson and/or the Treasurer, 
as the case may be; 

 

Amendments to the ... 2.8 a

98



23 
 

27.2.7. to appoint an Auditor; 
 
27.2.8. to approve the annual accountability reporting as required and set out in the BID 

Policy; 
 
27.2.9. to call for any declarations of conflicts of interest. 
 

27.3. For the purposes of the Act the Association’s financial year shall end on 30 June. 
 
27.4. An Annual General Meeting shall be specified as such in the notice convening it. 
 

28. SPECIAL GENERAL MEETINGS 
 
28.1. The Executive Committee may, whenever it thinks fit, convene a Special General 

Meeting of the Association. 
 

28.2. The Executive Committee shall, on the requisition in writing of not less than five 
percent of the total number of Full Members, convene a special meeting of the 
Association. 

 
28.3. A requisition of Members for a Special General Meeting: 

 
28.3.1. shall state the purpose or purposes of the meeting; 

 
28.3.2. shall be signed by the Members making the requisition; 

 
28.3.3. shall be lodged with the Secretary; 

 
28.3.4. may consist of several documents in a similar form, each signed by one or more 

of the Members making the requisition. 
 

28.4. If the Executive Committee fails to convene a Special General Meeting to be held 
within two months after the date on which a requisition of Members for the meeting 
is lodged with the Secretary, any one or more of the Members who made the 
requisition may convene a Special General Meeting to be held not later than two 
months after that date. 

 
28.5. A Special General Meeting convened by a Member or Members as referred to in 

Rule 28.4 shall be deemed to have been convened by the Executive Committee. 
 
28.6. The business to be conducted at a Special General Meeting shall be the only 

business for which the Special General Meeting in question was convened, provided 
that it is business which can properly be dealt with by Members in General Meeting. 

 

29. NOTICE 
 
29.1. Except where the nature of the business proposed to be dealt with at a General 

Meeting requires a Special Resolution of the Association, the Secretary shall, at 

Amendments to the ... 2.8 a

99



24 
 

least 14 days before the date fixed for the holding of the General Meeting, cause to 
be sent by prepaid post or by email to each Member at the Member's address 
appearing in the register of Members, a notice specifying the place, date and time 
of the meeting and the nature of the business proposed to be transacted at the 
meeting. 

 
29.2. Where the nature of the business proposed to be dealt with at a General Meeting 

requires a Special Resolution of the Association the Secretary shall, at least 21 days 
before the date fixed for the holding of the General 

 
29.3. Meeting, cause notice to be sent to each Member of the Association provided in 

Rule 29.1 specifying in addition to the matters required under Rule 29.1, the intention 
to pass such a resolution as a Special Resolution. 

 
29.4. In any case where a proposed Special Resolution is to approve the amount of BID 

Targeted Rate Grant for the following financial year which is an increase by more 
than 10% or $10,000 (whichever is greater) over the current year’s amount of BID 
Targeted Rate Grant, then the notice referred to in Rule 29.2 shall be provided to 
each Member in such a way as to draw particular attention to it and to clearly 
distinguish it from any other notice being given at the same time. As a minimum this 
shall involve the notice being given in a separate document which does not contain 
any communication about any other matter and which is headed: "IMPORTANT 
NOTICE TO MEMBERS: NOTICE OF INTENDED SPECIAL RESOLUTION TO 
INCREASE BID TARGETED RATE GRANT AMOUNT BY MORE THAN 10% OR 
$10,000." 

 
29.5. No business other than that specified in the notice convening a General Meeting 

shall be transacted at a meeting except, in the case of an Annual General Meeting, 
present business which may be transacted pursuant to Rule 30. 

 
29.6. A Member desiring to bring any business before a General Meeting may give notice 

in writing of that business to the Secretary who shall include that business in the 
next notice calling a General Meeting given after receipt of the notice from the 
Member. 

 
 

30. PROCEDURE 
 

30.1. No item of business shall be transacted at a General Meeting unless a quorum of 
Members entitled under these Rules to vote is present. 

 
30.2. Six Full Members present in person constitute a quorum for the transaction of the 

business of a General Meeting. 
 
30.3. If, within half an hour after the appointed time for the commencement of a General 

Meeting, a quorum is not present, then the meeting shall stand adjourned to the 
same day in the following week at the time and (unless another place is specified at 
the time of the adjournment by the person presiding at the meeting or communicated 

Amendments to the ... 2.8 a

100



25 
 

by written notice to Members given before the day to which the meeting is adjourned) 
at the same place. 

 
30.4. If at the adjourned meeting a quorum is not present within half an hour after the time 

appointed for the commencement of the meeting, the Members present shall 
constitute a quorum. 

 
 

31. PRESIDING MEMBER 
 

31.1. The Chairperson shall preside at each General Meeting of the Association. 
 

31.2. If the Chairperson is absent from a General Meeting or unable or unwilling to act, 
the Members present shall elect one of their number to preside as Chairperson at 
the meeting. 

32. ADJOURNMENT 
 

32.1. The Chairperson of a General Meeting at which a quorum is present may, with the 
consent of the majority of Members present at the meeting, adjourn the meeting from 
time to time and place to place. No business shall be transacted at an adjourned 
meeting other than business left unfinished at the meeting at which the adjournment 
took place. 

 
32.2. Where a General Meeting is adjourned for 14 days or more, the Secretary shall give 

written or oral notice of the adjourned meeting to each Member of the Association. 
The notice shall state the place, date and time of the meeting and the nature of the 
business to be transacted at the meeting. 

 
32.3. Except as provided in Rules 32.1 and 32.2, notice of an adjournment of a General 

Meeting or of the business to be transacted at an adjourned meeting is not required 
to be given. 

 
 

33. MAKING OF DECISIONS 
 

33.1. A resolution arising at a General Meeting of the Association shall be determined on 
a show of hands. Unless a poll is demanded before, or on the declaration of a show 
of hands, then a declaration by the Chairperson (for example, that a resolution has, 
on a show of hands, been carried or carried unanimously or carried by a particular 
majority or lost, or an entry to that effect has been entered in the Minute Book of the 
Association) shall constitute evidence of the outcome of the resolution without proof 
of the number or proportion of votes recorded in favour of or against that resolution. 
 

33.2. At a General Meeting of the Association, a poll may be demanded by the 
Chairperson or by not less than six Full Members present in person. 
 

Amendments to the ... 2.8 a

101



26 
 

33.3. Where a poll is demanded at a General Meeting, the poll shall be taken: 
 
33.3.1. immediately in the case of a poll which relates to the election of the Chairperson of 

the meeting or to the question of adjournment; or 
 

33.3.2. in any other case, in such manner and at such time before the closing of the 
meeting as the Chairperson directs. Resolution of the poll on the matter shall be 
deemed to be the resolution of the meeting on that matter. 

 
33.4. Written resolutions may not be passed in lieu of a General Meeting. 

 

34. SPECIAL RESOLUTION 
 

34.1. A resolution of the Association is a special resolution if: 
 

34.2. it is passed by a majority of the Members of the Association who are present, voting 
in person; and 
 

34.3. the resolution is passed at a General Meeting; and 
 

34.4. not less than 21 days written notice of the meeting has been given to Members 
specifying the intention to propose the resolution as a special resolution. 

 

35. VOTING AT GENERAL MEETINGS INCLUDING AGM 
 

35.1. Upon any question arising at a General Meeting of the Association, a Full Member 
has one vote only. 
 

35.2. All votes shall be given personally and no proxy votes will be allowed. 
 

35.3. In the case of an equality of votes on a question at a General Meeting, the 
Chairperson of the meeting is entitled to exercise a second or casting vote, but only 
to defeat the question and preserve the status quo. 

 

CHAPTER VI – MISCELLANEOUS 
36. INSURANCE 

 
36.1. The Association shall effect and maintain full and proper insurance including public 

liability insurance. 
 

36.2. In addition to the insurance required under Rule 36.1, the Association may effect 
and maintain other insurance. 

 
 

Amendments to the ... 2.8 a

102



27 
 

37. FUNDS – MANAGEMENT 
 

37.1. Subject to any resolution passed by the Association in General Meeting and subject 
to Rule 14.5, the funds of the Association shall be used to pursue the objects of the 
Association in such manner as the Executive Committee determines. 
 

37.2. The Executive Committee shall maintain bank accounts in the name of the 
Association.  All money received on account of the Association shall be banked 
within 5 days of receipt. 
 

37.3. All cheques, drafts, bills of exchange, promissory notes and other negotiable 
instruments shall be signed by any two members of the Executive Committee or 
employees of the Association, being Members or employees authorised to do so by 
the Executive Committee. 
 

37.4. All funds received by the Association, remain the property of the Association unless 
the Association is subject to dissolution, see Rule 42. The property of the Association 
is irrevocably dedicated to objects stated in these Rules. No part of the net income 
or assets of the Association shall ever inure to the benefit of any director, officer or 
Member of the Association or to the benefit of any private persons. 

 
37.5. The Executive Committee must ensure that there are kept at all times accounting 

records that correctly record the transactions of the Association and allow the 
Association to produce financial statement that comply with the requirements of the 
Act, and enable financial statements to be readily and properly audited. 

 
37.6. The Committee must establish and maintain a satisfactory system of control of the 

Association’s accounting records. The accounting records must be kept in written 
form or in a form or manner that is easily accessible and convertible into written form. 
The accounting records must be kept for the current accounting period and for the 
last 7 completed accounting periods of the Association. 

 

38. ALTERATION OF OBJECTS AND RULES 
 
38.1. Subject to the provisions of the Act, Rule 38.2 and the statement of objects, these 

Rules may be altered, rescinded or added to only by a Special Resolution of the 
Association provided that no addition to or alteration or rescission of the Rules shall 
be effective if it affects the objects, pecuniary benefits or winding up clauses (refer 
to Rules 4, 13 and 42). 
 

38.2. None of the Rules of the Association affecting the three-year BID Targeted Rate 
Grant Agreement Programme, the BID Programme, or the BID Targeted Rate Grant 
shall be altered in any way without the prior written approval of the Council. 

 
 

39. COMMON SEAL 
 

Amendments to the ... 2.8 a

103



28 
 

39.1. The common seal of the Association shall be kept in the custody of the Secretary. 
 

39.2. The common seal shall not be affixed to any instrument except by the authority of 
the Executive Committee. The affixing of the common seal shall be attested by the 
signatures of two members of the Executive Committee. A log of such affixing shall 
be kept. 
 
 

40. CUSTODY OF BOOKS, ETC. 
 

40.1. Except as otherwise provided by these Rules, the Secretary shall keep in his or her 
custody or under his or her control all records, books and other documents relating 
to the Association. Backups must be kept of computer files at least quarterly and at 
different premises.  

 
 

41. SERVICE OF NOTICES 
41.1. For the purposes of these Rules, a notice may be served by or on behalf of the 

Association upon any Member either personally or by sending it by post, email or 
facsimile to the Member at the Member's address shown in the register of Members. 
 

41.2. Where a document is sent to a person by properly addressing, prepaying and 
posting to the person a letter containing the document, the document shall be 
deemed for the purposes of these Rules to have been served on the person at the 
time at which the letter would have been delivered in the ordinary course of post. 
 

41.3. Where a document is sent to a person by properly addressed email or facsimile, it 
shall be deemed to have been served on the person at the time it was sent, in the 
absence of evidence to the contrary. 

42. WINDING UP 
 

42.1. Should the dissolution of the Association be deemed necessary, then two meetings 
must be held in accordance with the Act. The first meeting shall be called to pass a 
resolution to wind up the Association and 
 

42.2. must be carried by a majority of valid votes. The second meeting must be called (not 
earlier than 30 days after the first meeting) to confirm the resolution to be passed. 

 
42.3. If the Society is liquidated or removed from the Register of Incorporated Societies, 

no distribution shall be made to any Member. 
 

42.4. On the liquidation or removal from the Register of Incorporated Societies of 
the Society, its surplus assets — after payment of all debts, costs and liabilities — 
shall be vested in one or more organisations having similar not-for-profit objects, in 
such manner as may be determined by the majority of members present at a general 
meeting. 

Amendments to the ... 2.8 a

104



29 
 

 
42.5. However, in any resolution under this rule, the Society may approve a different 

distribution to a different not-for-profit entity from that specified above, so long as 
the Society complies with this Constitution and the Act in all other respects. 

 
 

43. DISPUTES AND COMPLAINTS 
 

43.1. A dispute is a disagreement or conflict involving the Society or its Members and may 
be between any Member, Officer, or the Society. 
 

43.2. For any disagreement or conflict involving the Association and/or its Members as set 
out in sections 38 to 44 the Act, the Association adopts the processes set out under 
Schedule 2 of the Act for handling of any dispute of that nature. 

 

Amendments to the ... 2.8 a

105



DRAFT
2026-2028

3  Y E A R
S T R A T E G I C

P L A N

N o r t h  W e s t  C o u n t r y  I n c o r p o r a t e d

w w w . n o r t h w e s t c o u n t r y . c o . n z

business association

Draft 3 Year Strate... 2.9 a

106



CHAIR'S STATEMENT
This is a visionary document created by the Executive Committee of the North West
Country Incorporated business association, and after a detailed business survey.  Our
committee regularly hears from the local community and speaks with other business
owners, and we are dedicated to ensuring the business association performs at its best
for our members.

This 3 Year Plan is a general overview of our over-arching strategy, and every year we
will refine the concepts to develop the annual plan and budget.

The cost of living and inflation is driving costs up and we are finding we can deliver less
for the same amount of money.  Being creative with income streams is paramount to
deliver what businesses are needing us to deliver with the limited budget available.

In 3 year's time we envision a thriving business community who enjoy being known as
the best place to live and work in Auckland. The management of the business
association will be high quality with excellent programmes for members, providing the
most needed services.

We will continue to partner with neighbouring business associations and Auckland
Council to maximise the benefit we bring to members.  We will have an extensive suite
of marketing materials and marketing channels available to use.  We will support others
to host a range of events across the region, and fill the gaps where needed.

We expect to be a pivotal support mechanism to help create a thriving community.

James Scott
Chair
North West Country Incorporated

P A G E   1
Draft 3 Year Strate... 2.9 a

107



The North West - Auckland's creative playground and premiere place to live, work and do
business and the location of choice for Aucklander's looking for a new experience.

VISION AND VALUES

P A G E  2

Vision

Mission Statement

Your business support for a thriving community.

Adventurous - we are positive, we challenge, we explore, and we express ourselves
passionately.
Welcoming- We are down to earth, friendly and helpful.
Supportive - of each other with a strong sense of community.

Values

Draft 3 Year Strate... 2.9 a

108



FORWARD
STRATEGY

P A G E  3

Executive Committee members are empowered to be champions for the business association
and local businesses
Executive Committee members are welcomed onto the board with a strong onboarding
programme.
Business leaders are attracted to and welcomed to the Executive Committee positions.
Executive Committee members are provided with guides for how to communicate with
businesses at all levels.

Committee

We provide clarity to our members.
We provide regular and meaningful communications to all members in a format that they
can interact with.
We are responsive and able to help all business members.
We will promote events in our area and in neighbouring areas that will benefit our members.

Communication

We provide connections and connectivity opportunities for all members.
We connect with neighbouring business improvement districts to maximise the benefits and
reach for our members.
Executive Committee members connect individually with business owners within their
individual districts.
We provide benefits to all businesses within the greater North West Area.
We bring a range of specialist trainers to the area to add benefits to members.

Connectivity

Draft 3 Year Strate... 2.9 a

109



HELPING GROW BUSINESS HOW IT WILL BE ACHIEVED

Provide relevant information to members
about the association’s activities and the
opportunities for promotion and assistance.

Provide regular email newsletters to members
Post to social media platforms with updates
Provide bi-monthly business magazine content with
West Auckland Business Club
Provide free business advertising in newsletters and
magazine
Maintain the website with updates of local events
and grants/ assistance to members
Provide details of membership benefits at local
networking events
Upload copies of meeting agendas and minutes to
the website.

Provide a Business Excellence Program for
members.

Maintain the Business Excellence Programme on our
website and work with local business training
experts to maintain content.
Continue the Business Solutions programme
including offering mentors to members.

Engage with organisations, agencies and
council.

Regularly communicate with and attend BID
updates with Auckland Council
Work closely with the West Auckland Business Club
for joint member benefits
Hold relationships with Waka Kotahi, Auckland
Transport, Auckland Council, FENZ, Lions, Rotary,
The Police, Neighbourhood Support and other
agencies.
Regularly present to Rodney Local Board to
showcase the achievements of the business
association and seek continued support.
Provide ongoing advocacy to central and local
government around business issues on behalf of
members.

Support local events that bring visitors.

Provide grants and support to events being
organised within the BID area that will provide
benefits to BID members such as visitor attractions
and area promotion.
Run the annual Business Celebrations event to
showcase local, encourage business excellence and
support success.

STRATEGIC PLAN 2026-2028
P A G E  4

Draft 3 Year Strate... 2.9 a

110



P A G E  5

HELPING GROW BUSINESS HOW IT WILL BE ACHIEVED

Provide regular training for local businesses
and their employees.

Partner with a range of training providers to run
relevant and needed training for BID members.  
Offer a range of free, discounted, or subsidised
training sessions of varying lengths and at various
locations to suit members needs.

Look for strategic partnerships that enhance
benefits to members.

Continue to work with the West Auckland Business
Club to bring joint member benefits.
Collaborate with local venues to provide ongoing
training spaces and networking events.
Seek sponsorship from key organisations to help
fund additional work streams of the BID as needed
and identified by the Executive Committee.
BID Manager and Executive Committee members to
attend meetings of key partners to strengthen
relationships.

Look to attract new members and increase
member reach.

Encourage members outside the designated BID
area to join as Associate Members to enjoy member
benefits.
Advertise for new members through our advertising
channels.
Ensure we always provide valuable services for all
members to encourage associate memberships.
Partner with neighbouring business associations and
key supporting organisations to increase member
reach and benefits.

Provide a range of member benefits at no
cost to North West Country Incorporated

Seek member to member discounts which can be
regularly advertised in marketing collateral.
Encourage members to utilise the Promotion tab of
their website business listing.
Use the power of the size of the membership to
attract discounts from goods and service providers
for members.

Draft 3 Year Strate... 2.9 a

111



P A G E  5

PROMOTING OUR DISTRICT HOW IT WILL BE ACHIEVED

Make our brand instantly recognisable.

Ensure brand integrity and ensure logo appears on
all marketing collateral.
Install signage at key locations within the district to
acknowledge NWC.
Maintain consistent messaging and marketing
platforms.
Provide high quality communications, activities,
services and promotions.
Partner with key organisations that share our values
and vision for the area and our members.
Continue to promote the area and its businesses
outside the area to attract investors and visitors.

Work with businesses, agencies and iwi to
improve our townships and key destinations.

Provide support to local businesses when
improvements are needed in townships.
Organise meetings with key local and central
government agencies to support township and
infrastructure improvements.
Develop strategic relationships with local iwi that
are mutually beneficial.
Work closely with the Rodney Local Board to seek
Town Centre upgrades and infrastructure
improvements.
Develop partnerships with government agencies
that provide ongoing business support and
assistance.

Promote the district to visitors.

Seek that the Rodney Local Board update the
Rodney Visitor Strategy 2015.
Place local events on Eventfinda and encourage
visitors.
Place local area promotional material into local
magazines and newspapers.
Place local area promotional material into the West
Auckland Business Club bi-monthly magazine.
Maintain the website of local visitor attractions and
events.
Run local competitions that will attract visitors to
the area and showcase our attractions.
Partner with regional tourism agencies to promote
the area regionally and nationally.

Draft 3 Year Strate... 2.9 a

112



P A G E  5

PROMOTING OUR DISTRICT HOW IT WILL BE ACHIEVED

Maximise marketing opportunities across all
media types of our member businesses.

Issue regular updates across all media outlets to
maximise coverage.
Partner with neighbouring business associations to
promote the area and local businesses that benefit
the wider region.
Partner with media outlets and provide monthly
content that can be placed in their publications.
Look for partners that can provide discounted
advertising to our members and the business
association.
Ensure that any events and grants that are awarded
have a sponsorship agreement whereby NWC is
acknowledged and promoted through the event.

Continue to refresh our promotional
activities to remain relevant for our
members.

Engage a marketing expert to remain relevant to our
audience and use the most relevant communication
platforms.
Ensure we regularly seek updates from members
about local events and opportunities that we can
showcase through our media outlets.
Monitor other business associations and
organisations for what they are doing that may
benefit our members.

Encourage businesses to settle in the North
West and thrive.

Create relationships with real estate agents to
promote our district as a good place to do business.
Reach out to landlords of vacant tenancies and look
for ways to encourage new tenants and support
landlords.

Engage dedicated marketing resource to
promote local businesses and the district.

Engage a social media expert to run regular social
media updates
Engage local influencers to provide short promotional
videos that can be posted to social media and the
website.

Run regular competitions to encourage local
spending.

Develop an annual events calendar that promotes
local businesses.
Partner with event organisers to provide grants for
local events that benefit members.

Draft 3 Year Strate... 2.9 a

113



Election of Executiv... 3.1 a

114



Election of Executiv... 3.1 b

115



Candidate profile 

Candidate Name: 
Daniel Dale 

Candidate contact email:  

Dan.Dale@4sq.co.nz 
Company Name:  
Parakai Four Square 

Role/Position with company:  

Owner/ Operator 
Company physical address:  

137 Parkhurst Road,Parakai 

Company postal address:  

As above 

Candidate Profile: 

Daniel Dale is the Owner/Operator of Parakai Four Square, a business he has successfully transformed over the past 
seven years. Under his leadership, the store has increased turnover by 210%, and it now ranks in the top 20 Four Square 
stores nationwide. Daniel’s background in finance and marketing, coupled with years of hands-on management, makes 
him an asset in driving business growth and operational efficiency. His involvement in several local initiatives and 
community support programs demonstrates his commitment to the well-being of the Northwest region. 

Industry/Community/Voluntary Roles:  

• Owner/Operator, Parakai Four Square (2016-present)
• Regular supporter and partner of South Kaipara Good Food, providing weekly food donations and affordable

bulk supplies to support the food bank.
• Crisis Management Team member for South Kaipara, coordinating resources during emergency weather

events.
• Active contributor to local schools and community groups, including sponsorship and donations to Parakai

School, Helensville School, and local fire departments.
• Regular mentor for trainee Four Square operators, helping to develop future business leaders in the retail

industry.

Candidate Statement:  

• Owner/Operator, Parakai Four Square (2016-present)
• Regular supporter and partner of South Kaipara Good Food, providing weekly food donations and affordable

bulk supplies to support the food bank.
• Crisis Management Team member for South Kaipara, coordinating resources during emergency weather

events.
• Active contributor to local schools and community groups, including sponsorship and donations to Parakai

School, Helensville School, and local fire departments.
• Regular mentor for trainee Four Square operators, helping to develop future business leaders in the retail

industry.

PLEASE ATTACH A RECENT PHOTOGRAPH OF YOURSELF 

Election of Executiv... 3.1 b

116



Election of Chair 3.2 a

117


	Cover Page
	Index
	Agenda
	Attached Documents
	Minutes : AGM - 3 Oct 2023
	Interests Register
	Chair's Report 2024.pdf
	Treasurer's Report 2024 (2).pdf
	Financial Statements 2024.pdf
	NWCBA Annual Report 2024.pdf
	Annual Budget 2025-2026.pdf
	Draft Business Plan 2025-2026.pdf
	Proposed Constitution 2024 Revised July.pdf
	3 Year Strategic Plan 2026-2028.pdf
	Michelle Brooking Nomination Form 2024.pdf
	Parakai Nomination Dale Complete.pdf
	Chair Nomination Scott.pdf




